THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Nov 15 2021

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

S.C. SUPREME COURT

R. Kirk Griffin, Circuit Court Judge

Supreme Court Case No. 2021-000472

Court of Appeals Case No. 2021-000343

Lower Court Case No. 2020-CP-40-04063

South Carolina Public Interest Foundation, and John Crangle, Individually
and on behalf of all others similarly situated, Appellants,

v.

Alan Wilson, Attorney General for the State of South Carolina,
Willoughby & Hoefler, P.A., and Davidson, Wren & DeMasters, P.A., Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

November 15, 2021

s/ James M. Griffin

James M. Griffin (SC Bar # 9995)
Badge Humphries (SC Bar #72904)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. When the Attorney General pays \$75 million of public funds to private law firms without authorization from a court, the General Assembly, or any public authority, and for many years, has made similar payments, and Appellants challenge the legality of the payment, does his unreviewed expenditure of public funds raise an issue of great public importance, requiring judicial guidance, and supporting the grant of public importance standing to Appellants?
2. When attorneys take a case on a contingency, and lose in the US District Court, lose in the Court of Claims, lose in the Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit, and lose a petition for writ of certiorari to the United States Supreme Court; but elected officials pressure the federal government to settle the case, is a payment of \$75 million in attorneys' fees excessive and patently unreasonable for the work done?
3. Was the Attorney General's payment of \$75 million of public funds to private attorneys, without authorization from a Court or the General Assembly unlawful?
4. Is a ruling on a temporary injunction considered the law of the case?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Former Governor James H. Hodges brokered an agreement pertaining to the storage of weapons-grade plutonium at the Savannah River Site (“SRS”). Governor Hodges’s brokered settlement is codified at Title 50, United States Code, Section 2566 (“Section 2566”). Under Section 2566, the United States Department of Energy (“DOE”) must pay the State of South Carolina “economic impact and assistance payments” of \$100 million per year from appropriated funds starting in 2016 for each year it fails to comply with deadlines relating to the disposition of the plutonium. 50 U.S.C. § 2566. The DOE failed to comply with the terms of the agreement. The DOE has not met the deadlines set forth in Section 2566, and as of 2020 was liable to the State of South Carolina for at least \$400 million in economic impact and assistance payments (R. pp. 529-531).

On August 28, 2020, Attorney General Alan Wilson (“Wilson”) entered into a settlement agreement with the United States (the “Settlement Agreement”) regarding the DOE’s failure to abide by the Hodges agreement. Wilson agreed on behalf of the Citizens of this State to refrain from instituting any action to collect economic impact and assistance payments for an additional 15 years. In exchange, the DOE agreed to pay the State of South Carolina a substantially reduced economic impact and assistance payment of \$600 million. The Settlement Agreement requires the DOE to make “immediate payment . . . to the State of South Carolina . . . with each party to bear its own costs, attorneys’ fees and expenses.” (R. p. 534).

At an August 31, 2020 press conference, Wilson announced that he intended to pay two law firms, Willoughby & Hoefler, P.A. (“WH”) and Davidson, Wren & DeMasters (“DWD”) [collectively the “Law Firms”], \$75 million from the proceeds of the DOE settlement. Wilson stated this settlement payment was expected on or after October 1, 2020.

Upon learning of Wilson’s intent, Governor Henry McMaster wrote Wilson objecting to the attorneys’ fee. The Governor had “concerns regarding the payment of attorneys’ fees” because the settlement resulted from “the zealous advocacy and coordination with members of [the State’s] Congressional delegation.” (R. pp. 541-42). Governor McMaster concluded by stating that he “cannot endorse the payment of \$75 million in attorneys’ fees under the circumstances.” (R. p. 542). David Pascoe, First Circuit Solicitor, likewise wrote Wilson objecting to the use of these settlement proceeds for attorneys’ fees on the grounds that the entire amount must be deposited into the State’s General Fund. (R. pp. 544-47).

On September 25, 2020, Appellants South Carolina Public Interest Foundation (“SCPIF”) and John Crangle (“Crangle”) [collectively “Appellants”] filed this action against Wilson seeking a declaratory judgment that Wilson lacked authority to pay \$75 Million from a DOE settlement to private law firms as attorneys’ fees absent a court order, authorization from the General Assembly, or provision in the Settlement Agreement providing that the DOE was paying the fees. (R. pp. 44-56).

Appellants contend that the payment of \$75 million to the Law Firms from a settlement intended solely for the benefit of the State is unconstitutional, in violation of the Separation of Powers Clause of the South Carolina Constitution. Even if the United States had agreed to pay the State’s attorneys’ fees, the \$75 million for the work in this case seems patently unreasonable.

With the Complaint, on September 25, 2020, Appellants filed a motion for a temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction, seeking to enjoin Wilson’s payment of \$75,000,000 to the law firms (Plaintiffs’ “Initial Motion”) (R. pp. 57-66). That afternoon, Appellants’ counsel provided Wilson copies of Appellants’ filings and asked the circuit court to schedule a hearing on Appellants’ Initial Motion. (R. p. 659).

Wilson's counsel emailed the circuit court requesting that the hearing on Appellants' Initial Motion not be held until Thursday, October 1, 2020. (R. p. 664). The circuit court responded that Appellants' Initial Motion could be heard on Tuesday, September 29, 2020 at 3:00 p.m., over Wilson's objections. (R. p. 663). On the afternoon of September 28, 2020, Appellants' counsel emailed counsel for Wilson asking that Wilson agree not to disburse the disputed funds until the case could be decided on the merits. (R. pp. 670-71). Counsel for Wilson ultimately responded, "I am checking w/ Bob Cook and this is what I am authorized to say. I have conveyed your request to him." (R. p. 669).

Unbeknownst to Appellants and the circuit court, Wilson had already received the \$600 million in settlement proceeds. Moreover, Wilson expedited the \$75 million transfer to the Law Firms on Tuesday morning, September 29, 2020, just hours before the scheduled hearing. Moments before the 3:00 p.m. hearing on Tuesday, September 29, 2020, the circuit court and Appellants first learned that the disputed \$75 million had been disbursed to Appellant. (R. p. 368). Wilson announced in his memorandum in opposition to the Appellants' request for a temporary restraining order, circulated at 2:12 p.m., that the disputed funds had been transferred to the Law Firms, and therefore Wilson contended Appellants' entire case was moot. (R. pp. 68-69).

Following the hearing, Appellant Crangle contacted the South Carolina Office of the State Treasurer and was informed that the funds had not been transferred to the Law Firms. Appellants' counsel informed the Court of this purported fact. (R. p. 674). The circuit court set another hearing for 7:00 p.m. on September 29, 2020. Prior to and during that hearing, counsel for Wilson stated that his office had confirmed that the Law Firms had received the disputed funds. (R. p. 673). During the hearing, out of an abundance of caution, the circuit court announced its intent to enter a temporary restraining order preventing the State from transferring funds to the Law Firms, in the

event the funds had not been transferred. Following the hearing, the Court entered such order (R. pp. 35-38). That order expired at 5:00 p.m. on Friday, October 2, 2020.

On the morning of September 30, 2020, the Treasurer confirmed that the proceeds had been wired to the law firm on September 29, 2020, just hours before the 3:00 p.m. hearing: “[t]he Treasurer’s office received a warrant for payment from the Comptrollers’ Office Monday night [September 28, 2020].” Therefore, the Treasurer’s Office “processed and wired the funds on Tuesday morning [September 29, 2020] to the law firm’s account.” (R. p. 681).

Later in the morning of September 30, 2020, Appellants filed their amended complaint (R. pp. 76-94) naming the Law Firms as additional defendants. At the same time, Appellants filed their second Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction, (R. p. 95-108). Thereafter, the circuit court, Honorable Alison R. Lee, entered an Ex Parte Temporary Restraining Order (TRO) restraining Law Firms from dispersing the proceeds (R. pp. 39-41).

On October 2, 2020, the Law Firms filed a Petition for Writ of Supersedeas with the South Carolina Court of Appeals seeking to vacate Judge Lee’s TRO. Appellants filed their response to the Petition on October 5, 2020. Appellants also filed a Petition for Original Jurisdiction in the South Carolina Supreme Court on October 5, 2020. On October 6, 2020 Respondents filed a Motion to Certify Respondents’ Petition for Writ of Supersedeas with the South Carolina Supreme Court. Also, on October 6, 2020 the Court of Appeals entered an order denying the Petition.¹ On October 26, 2020 the Law Firms’ appeal from the entry of a TRO was dismissed.

On October 7, 2020, Judge Lee conducted a hearing on Appellants’ Motion for Preliminary Injunction. On October 14, 2020, Judge Lee denied Appellants’ motion. (R. pp. 14-28). On

¹ On November 18, 2020, the Supreme Court entered an order denying the Motion to Certify as moot.

October 23, 2020, Appellants filed a motion to alter or amend Judge Lee's order denying the motion for preliminary injunction (R. pp. 273-80). The Law Firms filed oppositions to the motion to alter or amend on November 20, 2020 and November 23, 2020 (R. pp. 304-12; 315-16). Wilson also filed an opposition on November 23, 2020 (R. pp. 313-14). On December 17, 2020, Judge Lee denied the motion to alter or amend (R. pp. 11-13).

The Law Firms filed separate motions to dismiss the Amended Complaint on October 20, 2020 (R. pp. 267-69; 270-72). Wilson filed a Motion to Dismiss the Amended Complaint on October 27, 2020 (R. pp. 281-82). Appellants filed a memorandum in opposition to the motions to dismiss on January 20, 2021 (R. pp. 364-91). The Honorable R. Kirk Griffin conducted a hearing on the motion to dismiss on January 27, 2021.

Judge Griffin granted the Motion to Dismiss on March 5, 2021, ruling that the Plaintiffs lacked standing, and declined to rule on the merits (R. pp. 3-8).

Appellants filed a timely Notice of Appeal on March 29, 2021 (R. pp. 397-99).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

On appeal from the dismissal of a case pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), an appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court. *Freemantle v. Preston*, 728 S.E.2d 40, 43 (S.C. 2012); *Rydde v. Morris*, 381 S.C. 643, 646, 675 S.E.2d 431, 433 (2009). “That standard requires the Court to construe the complaint in a light most favorable to the nonmovant and determine if the facts alleged and the inferences reasonably deducible from the pleadings would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory of the case.” *Id.* (internal quotations omitted). If the facts alleged and inferences deducible therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to any relief, then dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) is improper. *Sloan Constr. Co. v. Southco Grassing, Inc.*, 377 S.C. 108, 113, 659 S.E.2d 158, 161 (2008).

ARGUMENT

I. APPELLANTS POSSESS STANDING.

A. Appellants Have Public Importance Standing.

The South Carolina Supreme Court recently addressed public importance standing in *Adams v. McMaster*, 432 S.C. 225, 851 S.E.2d 703 (2020). *Adams* addressed a one-time federal payment to the state of \$48,467,924 in coronavirus relief funds for educational purposes. Governor McMaster decided to make \$32,000,000 of the funds available for grants to students attending private schools. Petitioners challenged that decision, and Governor McMaster challenged their standing to bring suit. The Court ruled that the petitioners had public importance standing. The Court discussed the nature of the coronavirus pandemic and concluded that “[a] resolution for future guidance is needed here because **this case involves the conduct of government entities and the expenditure of public funds**, a prompt decision is necessary, and it is **likely the situation will occur** in the future if and when Congress approves additional education funding in response to the continued COVID-19 pandemic.” *Id.* at 236, 851 S.E.2d at 707 (emphasis added). Under *Adams*, “[t]he key to the public importance analysis is whether a resolution is needed for future guidance.” *Id.* (quoting *ATC S., Inc. v. Charleston Cnty.*, 380 S.C. 191, 199, 669 S.E.2d 337, 341 (2008)).

As in *Adams*, this case involves the conduct of government entities. It also involves the expenditure of public funds. A prompt decision is necessary in this case as it was in *Adams*. It is likely that the same situation will recur. Wilson has issued several contingency fee contracts, similar to the one here, and upon information and belief, he plans to continue to issue them. See Alan Wilson, South Carolina Attorney General, Contingency Fee Litigation Retention Agreements, <http://www.scag.gov/litigation-retention-agreements>.

Appellants should have public importance standing because this dispute involves a challenge to the unauthorized expenditure of government funds by the Attorney General, and a resolution of this dispute is needed for future guidance. See *S.C. Pub. Interest Found. v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 421 S.C. 110, 119, 804 S.E.2d 854, 859 (2017); *S.C. Pub. Interest Found. v. Lucas*, 416 S.C. 269, 786 S.E.2d 124 (2016); *S.C. Pub. Interest Found. v. S.C. Transp. Infrastructure Bank*, 403 S.C. 640, 744 S.E.2d 521 (2013); *Sloan v Friends of the Hunley*, 393 S.C. 152, 711 S.E.2d 895 (2011); *Am. Petroleum Inst. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 382 S.C. 572, 677 S.E.2d 16 (2009); *S.C. Pub. Interest Found. v. Harrell*, 378 S.C. 441, 663 S.E.2d 52 (2008); *Sloan v. Dep't of Transp.*, 379 S.C. 160, 666 S.E.2d 236 (2008); *Sloan v. Hardee*, 357 S.C. 495, 640 S.E.2d 457 (2007); *Cornelius v Oconee Cnty.*, 369 S.C. 531, 633 S.E.2d 492 (2006); *Sloan v. Dep't of Transp.*, 365 S.C. 299, 618 S.E.2d 876 (2005); *Sloan v. Wilkins*, 362 S.C. 430, 608 S.E.2d 579 (2005); *Sloan v. Sanford*, 357 S.C. 431, 593 S.E.2d 470 (2004); *Sloan v. Greenville Cnty.*, 356 S.C. 531, 590 S.E.2d 338 (Ct. App. 2003); *Sloan v. Sch. Dist. of Greenville Cnty.*, 342 S.C. 515, 537 S.E.2d 299 (Ct. App. 2000); *Baird v. Richland Cnty.*, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E.2d 69 (1999); *Newman v. Richland Cnty. Historic Pres. Comm'n*, 325 S.C. 79, 480 S.E.2d 72 (1997).

B. Appellants Have Adequately Alleged Standing to Pursue the Equitable Claims.

The Amended Complaint alleges an equitable claim of restitution and the imposition of a constructive trust over the disputed attorneys' fees that were transferred to the Law Firms after the commencement of this lawsuit, just hours before the Circuit Court conducted a hearing on Appellants' motion for a preliminary injunction. A constructive trust arises whenever a party has obtained money which does not equitably belong to him and which he cannot in good conscience retain or withhold from another who is beneficially entitled to it as where money has been paid by accident, mistake of fact, or fraud, or has been acquired through a breach of trust or the violation

of a fiduciary duty.” *SSI Medical Servs., Inc. v. Cox*, 301 S.C. 493, 500, 392 S.E.2d 789, 793-94 (1990); *McNair v. Rainsford*, 330 S.C. 332, 356, 499 S.E.2d 488, 501 (S.C. App. 1998); *see also*, *Lollis v. Lollis*, 291 S.C. 525, 354 S.E.2d 559 (1987) (constructive trust will arise whenever circumstances under which property was acquired make it inequitable that property should be retained by one holding legal title). *Dye v. Gainey*, 320 S.C. 65, 463 S.E.2d 97 (Ct. App. 1995) (constructive trust results from fraud, bad faith, abuse of confidence, or violation of fiduciary duty which gives rise to obligation in equity to make restitution).

In addition, that the recipient of funds paid under a mistake of law is required to make restitution to the lawful title holder. *Trotter v. Merchants & Farmers Bank*, 180 SC 449, 186 S.E. 371 (1936). *Trotter* involved the improper payment of funds by a court appointed receiver to a creditor of an insolvent corporation. The trial judge explained,

I do not think a receiver can make a voluntary payment of money under a mistake of law when he had no title to the money, and it is not his own and he has no beneficial interest in same. The receiver paid the money to the defendant, but title to same did not pass, and his successor is entitled to restitution of the amount so paid with interest from the date on which demand for return of same was made.

Id. *See also*, *United States v. Wurts*, 303 U.S. 414, 58 S. Ct. 637, 82 L. Ed. 932 (1938) (“It is a well-established principle that the Government generally can “recover funds which its agents have wrongfully, erroneously or illegally paid); *Alsco-Harvard Fraud Litig.*, 523 F. Supp. 790, 806 (D.D.C. 1981) (This common law basis for recovery of funds runs against a person “who received them by mistake and without rights).

As established above, Appellants have public importance standing to challenge Wilson’s unauthorized expenditure of government funds. Wilson cannot defeat the Court’s jurisdiction over this matter simply by transferring the disputed funds to the Law Firms during the pendency of this action. Under these circumstances, Appellants’ public importance standing permits the enforcement of a constructive trust over these funds.

The South Carolina Supreme Court first addressed the ability of a citizen to assert claims for the recoupment of money on behalf of a governmental entity in *Ex Parte Hart*:

The question under discussion appears to be a novel one in this state, but it has been held in quite a number of jurisdictions, and correctly so, in our opinion, that if a county has a cause of action for an injury sustained, which should be enforced for the protection of its citizens or taxpayers, and its governing board unjustifiably refuses to assert such cause of action, any citizen, because of his indirect interest, may sue, in behalf of himself and others similarly situated, the person against whom the cause of action exists, and thereby enforce the rights of the county. . . .

Generally it should be shown by allegation and proof that the corporate authorities have neglected or refused to proceed, after being requested so to do, or that a request to them to proceed by judicial remedies would be unavailing.

Ex Parte Hart, 190 S.C. 473, 2 S.E.2d 52 at 53-54 (1939).

Accordingly, Plaintiffs have standing to assert claims on behalf of the State of South Carolina under the facts and circumstances of this case, particularly because derivative lawsuits sound in equity. *See Straight v. Goss*, 383 S.C. 180, 191, 678 S.E.2d 443, 449 (Ct. App. 2009) (explaining that shareholder derivative actions sound in equity); *see also Richardson v. Blackburn*, 41 Del. Ch. 54, 55-56, 187 A.2d 823, 823-24 (1963); *Hooper v. Ebenezer Sr. Servs. & Rehab. Ctr.*, 386 S.C. 108, 116-17, 687 S.E.2d 29, 33 (2009) (“The equitable power of a court is not bound by cast-iron rules but exists to do fairness and is flexible and adaptable to particular exigencies so that relief will be granted when, in view of all the circumstances, to deny it would permit one party to suffer a gross wrong at the hands of the other” (internal quotation marks omitted)); *Taff v. Smith*, 114 S.C. 306, 103 S.E. 551, 553 (1920) (describing as well-settled the equitable maxim that “[e]quity will not suffer a wrong without a remedy”). Indeed, “[t]he requirement of standing is not an inflexible one.” *Sloan v. Sch. Dist. of Greenville Cnty.*, 342 S.C. at 524, 537 S.E.2d at 304 (internal quotation marks omitted).

As shown by affidavit, Wilson refused repeated demands to assert the State of South Carolina’s rights vis-à-vis the Defendant and has instead violated the South Carolina Constitution

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