THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
R. Kirk Griffin, Circuit Court Judge

Supreme Court Case No. 2021-000472

Court of Appeals Case No. 2021-000343

Lower Court Case No. 2020-CP-40-04063

South Carolina Public Interest Foundation and John Crangle, individually
and on behalf of all others similarly situated,..... Appellants,

v.

Alan Wilson, Attorney General for the State of South Carolina,
Willoughby & Hoefler, P.A., and Davidson, Wren & DeMasters, P.A.,..... Respondents.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
WILLOUGHBY & HOEFER, P.A.**

John S. Simmons, S.C. Bar No. 10260
SIMMONS LAW FIRM, LLC
1711 Pickens Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201

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

ARGUMENT

- 1. This appeal should be dismissed because Appellants did not appeal from Judge Lee’s order denying Appellants’ motion for preliminary injunction, which order Judge Griffin found to be dispositive on the issue of Appellants’ lack of standing, rendering it the law of the case.**

In the October 14 Order and the December 17 Order, Judge Lee made the specific finding that Appellants did not have standing to pursue any of their claims against Respondents. (**R. p. 27**) (October 14 Order at 14 (“After hearing the issues and arguments of counsel and considering the materials submitted, this Court finds Plaintiffs lack standing...”)); (**R. p. 12**) (December 17 Order at 2 (“[T]his Court properly ruled Plaintiffs lack standing in this matter.”)). This finding was made independent of her determination that Appellants had failed to satisfy their burden for the issuance of a preliminary injunction; rather, it was made as a threshold determination of justiciability of the

underlying claims. (*Id.*). Appellants did not identify in or attach to their Notice of Appeal either of Judge Lee’s orders (they only identified and attached Judge Griffin’s March 5 Order), and the time period within which Appellants could have appealed them has expired.⁹ See Rule 203, SCACR (providing, in part, that a party intending to appeal from the Court of Common Pleas shall serve a notice of appeal within 30 days of receipt of written notice of entry of the order or judgment and that the notice of appeal “*shall* be accompanied by... [a] copy of the order(s) and judgment(s) to be challenged on appeal” (Emphasis added)). Because Appellants have not appealed either the October 14 Order or the December 17 Order, Judge Lee’s conclusion that Appellants lack standing is the law of the case. See *ML-Lee Acquisition Fund, L.P. v. Deloitte & Touche*, 327 S.C. 238, 241, 489 S.E.2d 470, 472 (1997) (holding that an unappealed ruling is law of the case). In addition, Appellants have not challenged or identified in their brief as an issue in this case Judge Griffin’s ruling that he did not have the power to reverse or modify Judge Lee’s findings that Appellants lacked standing.¹⁰ (**R. pp. 6-7**) (March 5 Order at 4-5) (“It is settled [law] that one circuit judge does not have the power to review, modify, affirm or reverse the findings of another circuit judge.”) (quoting *State ex rel. Medlock v. Love Shop, Ltd.*, 286 S.C. 486, 334 S.E.2d 528 (1985)). Judge Griffin’s ruling in this regard, therefore, is also now law of the case. *ML-Lee Acquisition*, 327 S.C. at 241, 489 S.E.2d at 472.

“A threshold inquiry for any court is a determination of justiciability, i.e., whether the litigation presents an active case or controversy.” See *Peoples Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n v. Res. Plan. Corp.*, 358 S.C. 460, 477, 596 S.E.2d 51, 60 (2004) (quoting *Lennon v. S.C. Coastal Council*, 330

⁹ Also, Appellants did not appeal from the October 14 Order and the December 17 Order within thirty (30) days of the issuance of the December 17 Order.

¹⁰ Rather, Appellants only contend that Judge Lee’s findings are not law of the case, which is, of course, a separate and distinct issue than whether Judge Griffin’s rulings were correct.

S.C. 414, 415, 498 S.E.2d 906, 906 (Ct. App. 1998)); *Jowers v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env't Control*, 423 S.C. 343, 353, 815 S.E.2d 446, 451 (2018) (“Our courts will not address the merits of any case unless it presents a justiciable controversy.”). The concept of justiciability includes the doctrine of standing. *Jackson v. State*, 331 S.C. 486, 490 n.2, 489 S.E.2d 915, 917 n.2 (1997). “No justiciable controversy is presented unless the plaintiff has standing to maintain the action.” *Lennon*, 330 S.C. at 415, 498 S.E.2d at 906 (quoting *Brock v. Bennett*, 313 S.C. 513, 519, 443 S.E.2d 409, 413 (Ct. App. 1994)). Because it is the law of the case that Appellants do not have standing in this matter, there is no justiciable controversy, and this appeal must be dismissed.

This straightforward and inescapable conclusion is not altered because the Appellants have appealed from Judge Griffin’s March 5 Order dismissing Appellants’ Amended Complaint. In his order, Judge Griffin recognized that Judge Lee’s findings that Appellants lacked standing were “dispositive and require[d] dismissal.” (**R. pp. 6-7**) (March 5 Order at 4-5). But, critically, an appeal of Judge Griffin’s order is not also an appeal of Judge Lee’s orders.¹¹ Two prior decisions—one by this Court and one by the Court of Appeals—confirm this.

In *Bakala v. Bakala*, 352 S.C. 612, 576 S.E.2d 156 (2003), this Court considered the appeal of an order of a family court judge denying a motion to quash a bench warrant. The appellant had filed a motion to quash, which had been denied by the family court on the basis that the court lacked jurisdiction to grant the motion. Several months later, the appellant moved for the same relief from another family court judge. The second family court judge denied the motion for the same reason (lack of jurisdiction) as the first family court judge. Pertinent here, the appellant *only* appealed the order of the second family court judge. On appeal, this Court agreed with the appellant

¹¹ And, again, while Appellants appealed from Judge Griffin’s order, they have not challenged Judge Griffin’s ruling that he did not have the power to reverse or modify Judge Lee’s findings that Appellants lacked standing.

that the family court erred in finding that it lacked jurisdiction to quash the bench warrant but held that the second motion to quash was properly denied because the second family court judge “could not overrule the prior order” of the first judge and the first judge’s “unappealed ruling finding no jurisdiction [was] therefore the law of the case.” *Bakala*, 352 S.C. at 631-32, 576 S.E.2d at 166 (Internal citations omitted).

Similarly, in *McAleese v. McAleese*, 309 S.C. 548, 424 S.E. 2d 558 (Ct. App. 1992), the Court of Appeals also considered an appeal from a family court order. As described by the Court of Appeals in its opinion, the “appealed order” had found that two prior orders “were dispositive of the issues presented by the pleadings of this case.” *McAleese*, 309 S.C. at 550, 424 S.E. 2d 559. As in this case, the appellant in *McAleese* did not appeal the two prior orders. In affirming, the Court of Appeals held that because the two prior orders were not appealed, they constituted the law of the case. *Id.* at 551, 424 S.E. 2d at 559-60.

In short, to challenge the finding that they lacked standing to pursue their claims against Respondents, Appellants needed to appeal from and challenge Judge Lee’s October 14 and December 17 Orders, which were dispositive as to that issue. They failed to do so and, therefore, the law of the case is that Appellants lack standing.

In their brief, Appellants do not—because they cannot—dispute that they failed to appeal Judge Lee’s orders but rather contend that Judge Lee’s rulings were somehow “not binding” because her orders were issued in the context of resolving a preliminary injunction.¹² Br. of

¹² Appellants contend this Court’s decision in *Shirley’s Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 743 S.E.2d 778 (2013), supports their claim that Judge Lee’s finding of lack of standing is not the law of the case. But, in fact, the opposite is true. In *Shirley’s Iron Works*, this Court stated that the doctrine of the law of the case applies to an unappealed “order or ruling which finally determines a substantial right.” *Id.* at 573, 743 S.E.2d at 785 (quoting *Weil v. Weil*, 299 S.C. 84, 89, 382 S.E.2d 471, 473 (Ct. App. 1989)). Here, Judge Lee’s ruling “finally determine[d] a substantial right” because (1) a party’s standing is a substantial right; and (2) her ruling could not

Appellant at 26. The obvious and fatal deficiency of this contention is that Judge Lee specifically stated that her ruling on the legal issue of Appellants’ standing was separate and apart from her determination that Appellants did not meet the legal standards for issuance of a preliminary injunction. *See* (R. p. 12) (December 17 Order at 2 (holding that “[Appellants]’ standing and request for preliminary injunction *are separate issues*,” and that “[t]he question of standing had to be determined” and “[Appellants]’ lack of standing ... could have ended [the inquiry]”) (Emphasis added)).

Contrary to Appellants’ unsupported claims, *see* Br. of Appellant at 26-27, Judge Lee’s findings and conclusions were not made in the context of determining whether Appellants had a “likelihood of success on the merits” under the preliminary injunction standard. Judge Lee did not limit her finding that Appellants lacked standing to the request for preliminary injunction. Rather, Judge Lee ruled—separate from her determination that Appellants failed to meet their burden for entitlement to a preliminary injunction—that Appellants lacked standing to pursue any of their claims against Respondents. (R. p. 27) (October 14 Order at 14 (“[T]his Court finds Plaintiffs lack standing *and* have failed to meet their burden for a Preliminary Injunction in this matter.”) (Emphasis added)); (R. p. 12) (December 17 Order at 2 (“This Court properly ruled Plaintiffs lack standing *in this matter*.”) (Emphasis added)).

Therefore, because Appellants’ lack of standing is the law of the case, this appeal should be denied and the dismissal of this case should be affirmed.

be overruled by another judge. *See id.* (“This State has a long-standing rule that one judge of the same court cannot overrule another.”). Moreover, if a party does not have standing to maintain any of its claims, then the party has no lawful means by which to maintain the litigation itself.

2. Even if the law of the case does not bar the appeal, the circuit court should be affirmed because Appellants lack standing.

As the United States Supreme Court has emphasized, the increasing demand for judicial attention and intervention on most every conceivable perceived grievance “has not eliminated the basic principle that to invoke judicial power the claimant must have a “personal stake in the outcome,” or a “particular, concrete injury,” or “a direct injury”; in short, something more than “generalized grievances.” *U.S. v. Richardson*, 418 U.S. 166, 179-80 (1974). “Few exercises of the judicial power are more likely to undermine public confidence in the neutrality and integrity of the Judiciary than one which casts the Court in the role of a Council of Revision, conferring on itself the power to invalidate laws at the behest of anyone who disagrees with them.” *Ariz. Christian Sch. Tuition Org. v. Winn*, 563 U.S. 125, 145-46 (2011). For that reason, “courts must be more careful to insist on the formal rules of standing, not less so.” *Id.* at 146; *see S.C. Pub. Interest Found. v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 421 S.C. 110, 117, 804 S.E.2d 854, 858 (2017) (“A plaintiff must have standing to institute an action.”); *Blandon v. Coleman*, 285 S.C. 472, 475, 330 S.E.2d 298, 299 (1985) (“Standing to sue is a fundamental requirement in instituting an action.”); *Joytime Distribs. & Amusement Co., Inc. v. State*, 338 S.C. 634, 639, 528 S.E.2d 647, 649 (1999) (same).

“Under our current jurisprudence, there are three ways in which a party can acquire this fundamental threshold of standing: (1) by statute; (2) through what is called “constitutional standing”; and (3) under the public importance exception.” *Bodman v. State*, 403 S.C. 60, 66–67, 742 S.E.2d 363, 366 (2013) (citing *ATC S., Inc. v. Charleston Cnty.*, 380 S.C. 191, 195, 669 S.E.2d 337, 339 (2008)). There is no assertion in this case of statutory or constitutional standing,¹³ so

¹³ In any event, Appellants do not have constitutional standing because they have not alleged and cannot allege an injury in fact. *Commander Health Care Facilities, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’t Control*, 370 S.C. 296, 301, 634 S.E.2d 664, 666 (Ct. App. 2006) (“Constitutional standing requires, at a minimum, that the party bringing the action sustain a direct injury or the immediate danger a direct injury will be sustained.”). Appellants are not parties to the contract between the

Appellants are left to assert the “public importance” exception.¹⁴ The circuit court correctly ruled that they did not meet—and cannot meet—their burden demonstrating this exception applies.

A. *Appellants cannot proceed pursuant to the “public importance” exception.*

The “public importance” exception to the general standing requirements allows citizens in some limited instances, which are not present here, to seek judicial resolution of an issue “of such public importance as to require its resolution for future guidance.” *Davis v. Richland Cnty. Council*, 372 S.C. 497, 500, 642 S.E.2d 740, 741 (2007). However, this Court has recognized it “must be cautious with this exception, lest it swallow the rule.” *Jowers*, 423 S.C. at 360, 815 S.E.2d at 455 (quoting *S.C. Pub. Interest Found. v. S.C. Transp. Infrastructure Bank*, 403 S.C. 640, 646, 744 S.E.2d 521, 524 (2013)). Indeed, “standing cannot be granted to every individual who has a grievance against a public official. Otherwise, public officials would be subject to numerous lawsuits at the expense of both judicial economy and the freedom from frivolous lawsuits.” *Sloan v. Sanford*, 357 S.C. 431, 434, 593 S.E.2d 470, 472 (2004). The general importance of an issue, without more, is insufficient to invoke the exception because “the same may be said of most legislative and executive actions. For a court to relax general standing rules, the matter of

Respondent Law Firms and the Attorney General, were not involved in the Federal litigation in any way, and have no claim, entitlement, or right to the settlement funds or the attorneys’ fees. Likewise, Appellants do not have so-called “taxpayer standing” because Appellants state no specific claim that they have regarding the settlement proceeds and, thus, have no harm arising from their alleged claims that differs from all other taxpayers and residents in the State. *See Bodman*, 403 S.C. at 67, 742 S.E.2d at 366 (“In *ATC*, [this Court] unanimously closed the door to a litigant asserting standing simply by virtue of his status as a taxpayer [asserting harm shared by all taxpayers in the State]. . . . This feature of commonality defeats the constitutional requirement of a concrete and particularized injury.”) (quoting *ATC*, 380 S.C. at 198, 669 S.E.2d at 340-41).

¹⁴ Appellants also have argued that they have what they claim is “derivative standing” to pursue claims on behalf of the State. As explained below, there is no such thing and this contention is meritless.

importance must, in the context of the case, be inextricably connected to the public need for court resolution for future guidance.” *ATC*, 380 S.C. at 199, 669 S.E.2d at 341.

Appellants essentially assert two claims in this case. First, Appellants assert a claim against the Attorney General alleging that he did not have authority to approve the one-time payment of attorneys’ fees for services performed pursuant to the Litigation Retention Agreement, notwithstanding the clear grants of statutory authority to the Attorney General to enter into the Litigation Retention Agreement and hire the Respondent Law Firms. Second, Appellants assert a claim against the Respondent Law Firms alleging that the amount of attorneys’ fees owed and paid pursuant to the Litigation Retention Agreement is “unreasonable.” There are three primary reasons why the “public importance” exception does not permit the Appellants to proceed with these claims.

First, and most importantly, Appellants have not and cannot meet their burden to show that resolution of its claim “is needed for future guidance.” *ATC*, 669 S.E.2d at 341, 380 S.C. at 199 (2008) (“The key to the public importance analysis is whether a resolution is needed for future guidance. It is this concept of ‘future guidance’ that gives meaning to an issue which transcends a purely private matter and rises to the level of public importance.”). Appellants’ challenge is to the one-time payment of the attorneys’ fees in this particular and unique situation and pursuant to this specific Litigation Retention Agreement. Indeed, Appellants candidly acknowledged before the circuit court that it is because of the “amount of the fee” judicial intervention is purportedly warranted. (**R. p. 19**) (October 14 Order at 6 (“Plaintiffs acknowledge that it is because of the amount of the fee the statute requires interpretation.”). Any determination with respect to this challenge would therefore be entirely limited to the Litigation Retention Agreement and payment for services performed pursuant to this single contract. *See Freemantle v. Preston*, 398 S.C. 186,

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